10%

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

HAVEN FEDERAL SAVINGS & LOAN ASSOCIATION, CASE NUMBER 16,082 Plaintiff, Appellant, DCA-1 89-1538 v. LARRY F. KIRIAN, et al., Defendants, Appellees INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLA Print State Steven R. Scott, Esq. GABEL, TAYLOR & DEES Florida Bar Number 310158 Suite 1600 American Heritage Tower 76 South Laura Street Jacksonville, Florida 32202-5450

(904) 353-7329

##

# STATEMENT OF THE FACTS AND COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS

## I. Statement of the Facts.

On or about October 8, 1983, Larry and Sharon Kirian (herein after referred to as "defendants" or the "appellees"), executed and delivered a promissory note and mortgage (R: 19, Exhibits "A" and "B") to Haven Federal Savings & Loan Association in conjunction with the purchase of real property located in Clay County, Florida. The property is commonly known as Unit 1423 of the Ravines Resort Condominiums. On or about December 29, 1983, similar instruments (R: 1, Exhibits "A" and "B") were executed by Larry Kirian and Ciampini Corporation with respect to Unit 1303 of the Ravines Resort Condominiums, (hereinafter referred to as the "Ravines").

### II. Course of Proceedings Below.

On July 10, 1987, Complaints were filed by Haven Federal Savings & Loan Association (hereinafter referred to as "plaintiff" or "appellant") in the Circuit Court for the Fourth Judicial Circuit in and for Clay County, Florida and assigned Case Numbers 87-939-CA and 87-940-CA. These actions named Appellees as defendants in two mortgage foreclosure actions. (R: 1-15; 19-35) Both actions allege as their basis defendants' failure to make mortgage payments due on the subject properties March 1, 1987, and thereafter. (Id.) The actions involved common questions of law and fact, and were properly consolidated by the Circuit Court with the consent of all parties in an Order rendered February 22, 1988. (R: 84-85)

Prior to consolidation the defendants filed responsive pleadings in each cause containing their Answer, Affirmative Defenses, Counterclaims and Demand for Jury Trial. (R: 57-61; 62-67) Defendants' two affirmative defenses sought recoupment or, alternatively, rescission. Both affirmative defenses were predicated on theories of fraud, unclean hands and failure of consideration. Each responsive pleadings also contained a counterclaim seeking damages against plaintiff for fraud and misrepresentation. The facts relied on in each action to support the Affirmative Defenses were identical to those relied on for each Counterclaim.

On May 13, 1988, plaintiff filed a Motion to Sever the Counterclaims for Separate Trial. (R: 86-87) The lower court entertained oral argument at a hearing held on June 6, 1988, on the issue of whether severance was appropriate. (R: 373-388) At that time, the Circuit Court requested that the parties present memoranda of law in support of their positions. On June 15, 1988, the Circuit Court entered an Order Granting Plaintiff's Motion to Sever. (R: 88-89)

On June 24, 1988, Defendants' Motion for Rehearing on Order Granting Plaintiff's Motion to Sever was filed. (R: 99-101) Hearing on said motion was heard on June 30, 1988, and on July 5, 1988, the Circuit Court rendered its Order Denying Motion for Rehearing. (R: 102) A Petition for Writ of Common Law Certiorari and/or Writ of Mandamus was subsequently filed by the defendants with the First District Court of Appeal styled as <u>Kirian, et al.</u>

v. Haven Federal Savings & Loan Ass'n., et al., Case No. 88-1741 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988). The First District entered an Order denying the Petition for Certiorari on August 8, 1988, on the basis of the presence of an adequate remedy by appeal.

On February 10, 1989, plaintiff filed its Motion for Summary Final Judgment. (R: 117) It requested at the hearing that the Court strike the affirmative defenses, which were virtually identical to the counterclaim. The Court reserved ruling on the issues pending the submission of memoranda. Memoranda were submitted by both sides. The lower court struck all affirmative defenses and granted summary judgment in each of the consolidated cases, and foreclosure sales were scheduled for July 18, 1989. (R: 198; 202) Defendants filed a notice of appeal challenging the trial court's order severing the legal counterclaims and its later order striking their affirmative defenses and granting summary judgment for appellee on the foreclosure action. (R: 344-345) The trial court stayed the scheduled foreclosure sales pending the outcome of said appeal.

On April 27, 1990, the First District Court of Appeal filed its opinion reversing both orders of the trial court appealed by defendants, stating:

We find that section 702.01 is procedural in nature and that its language is unequivocally mandatory. We agree with [defendants] that it is exclusively the prerogative of the Supreme Court to set procedural rules for the courts, that Florida Rule of Civil Procedure 1.270(b) gives the trial judge discretion to decide whether to order a separate trial in a situation like the one presented in this case, and that to the extent the statute conflicts with this rule, section 702.01 violates Article V, section 2(a) of the Florida Constitution.

The trial court therefore reversibly erred when it found that it was required by the statute to sever the counterclaims. We also find no valid basis for striking the affirmative defenses and granting summary judgment for [plaintiff] without allowing [defendants] the opportunity to present their defenses to the foreclosure action.

Notice of Appeal was timely filed seeking review of the decision of the First District Court of Appeal pursuant to Rule 9.030 (a)(1) (A)(ii) of the Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure and Article V, Section 3(b)(3) of the Florida Constitution.

### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- I. WHETHER THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEALS ERRED IN REVERSING THE TRIAL COURT'S ORDER SEVERING COUNTERCLAIMS FROM A FORECLOSURE ACTION PURSUANT TO Section 702.01, FLA. STAT. (1987)
- II. WHETHER THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEALS ERRED IN REVERSING THE TRIAL COURT'S ORDER STRIKING AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSES AND GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT IN THE FORECLOSURE ACTION

### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The First District Court of Appeals reversibly erred in overturning the decision of the trial court by ruling Section 702.01, Fla. Stat., unconstitutional. Longstanding principles of deference for legislative enactments require the court to avoid ruling on the constitutionality of a statute where it can be avoided. A ruling on the statute could be avoided in this case as the defendant suffered no real harm from the application of the The application of the statute did not dictate a result statute. contrary to that reached under prior decisions. Further, defendants, despite their protests to the contrary, suffered no real harm in the application of the statute to their case. Thus, there was no reversible error and the First District Court of Appeals should have upheld the statute as constitutional in the context of this case and/or found that defendants, having suffered no real harm from its application, lacked standing to raise the issue of its constitutionality.

The First District court of Appeals also reversibly erred in the Trial Court's order striking defendants' overturning affirmative defenses and granting summary judgment in the foreclosure action. The only stated basis for said decision was that the Trial Court's order would not "[allow defendants] the opportunity to present their defenses to the foreclosure." However, defendants' argument that their affirmative defenses were a "defense" to the foreclosure action was, at best, an after-Further, neither affirmative defense was aimed at thought.

retaining the property in foreclosure, but instead sought restitution of defendants' money and rescission of the sales contracts in question. As the affirmative defenses were a mere restatement of defendants counterclaims, and defendant could obtain complete relief thereon in the case containing their severed counterclaims, the defenses were appropriately stricken by the trial court.

### ARGUMENT

I. THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEALS ERRED IN REVERSING THE TRIAL COURT'S ORDER SEVERING COUNTERCLAIMS FROM THE FORECLOSURE ACTION

This Honorable Court has long held that it is the court's duty not to pass upon the validity of a statute if the case can be decided on other grounds. Thus, in <u>Palm Beach Mobile Homes, Inc.</u> <u>v. Strong</u>, 300 So. 2d 881, 883 (Fla. 1974), when this court considered the appeal of an order by the trial court upholding the constitutionality of several statutory provisions, this court refused to rule on any that were not necessary to the disposition of the case, stating:

The remaining statutory provisions ruled on by the trial court were not material to the instant cause nor was such determination required for the disposition of this litigation. Therefore, the constitutionality vel non thereof will not be passed upon in the present cause by this Court since this Court has previously held that it is a fundamental principal that courts will not pass upon the validity of a statute or even a part of an act in a proceeding . . . wherein the case may be disposed of upon any other ground. <u>Williston Highlands Development Corp.</u>, <u>et al. v. Hogue</u>, et al, 277 So. 2d 260 (Fla. 1973); <u>De</u> <u>Jong v. Pallotto</u>, 239 So.2d 252 (Fla. 1970); <u>Mounier v.</u> <u>State</u>, 178 So.2d 714 (Fla. 1965); <u>Lainhart v. Catts</u>, et al, 73 Fla. 735, 75 So. 47 (1917).

In rendering said decision Justice Roberts quoted with approval the prior decision of the Court in <u>P.O. Lissenden Co. v. Board of</u> <u>County Commissioners</u>, 116 So. 2d 632, 635 (Fla. 1959), where the Court held that:

[W]hile the validity of this statute was raised by the appellant and actually passed upon by the trial court, it was not only not determinative of the issues or essential to the disposition thereof, but such question was wholly immaterial to the determination of the merits of the action. Therefore that portion of the judgment appealed which purports to pass upon the validity of the



cited statute is obiter dictum and is hereby held for naught.

This principal is of long standing in the law of Florida, and has often been reiterated by the courts of this State. <u>See</u>, <u>e.g.</u>, cases cited at 10 Fla. Jur. 2d, <u>Constitutional Law</u>, Section Section 52 and 55. Likewise, as stated by this Court in <u>State v. Hill</u>, 372 So. 2d 84, 85 (Fla. 1979):

It is a long standing principle of constitutional adjudication that [a] statutory regulation may, consistently with organic law, be applied to one class of cases in controversy, and may violate the Constitution as applied to another class of cases. This does not destroy the statute; but imposes the duty to enforce the regulation when it may be legally applied.

Thus, as further stated by this Court:

Since this statute may be legally applied to [defendant] under the factual circumstances presented here, he has no standing to complain that it might not be constitutionally enforceable against [another].

Id.

It is the Appellant's contention that these principles require the reversal of the decision of the First District Court of In rendering its decision the First District Court of Appeals. Appeals should have been guided by the prior decisions of this Court, avoiding, if possible, a decision as to the constitutionality vel non of the statute at issue. The question should have considered is not whether the statute it is unconstitutional in some abstract and absolute sense, but whether it could be legally applied in this case to this defendant. Cf. State v. Hill, supra. In this case there was no injustice worked (or unconstitutional result mandated) as the result obtained was

completely consistent with common law principles applicable to severance existing prior to the amendment or Section 702.01, <u>Fla</u>. <u>Stat</u>..

In <u>Padgett v. First Federal</u>, 378 So.2d 58 (1st DCA 1979), the Court considered a factual situation very similar to the instant case, specifically, severance of a mortgagor's action against mortgagee for fraud, misrepresentation and misappropriation of funds, and the mortgagee's counterclaim for foreclosure against subject property. The <u>Padgett</u> court stated:

[T]he particular facts of each case must be examined to determine the order in which the legal and equitable issues must be tried . . . We have no difficulty in deciding that the issues of fraud, misrepresentation, and misappropriation of funds and property are not issues common to those stated in the foreclosure complaint, and there would be no error in a non-jury trial of the foreclosure action preceding trial of these other issues.

Id. at 64, 65. The Court then issued a ruling which preserved the mortgagor's right to trial by jury by holding:

[T]he final judgment of foreclosure rendered in favor of [mortgagee] is affirmed. Nothing said in this opinion shall be considered as a ruling on the merits of any claim made by [mortgagor] with respect to which we have held they are entitled to a jury trial.

Id. at 66. The <u>Padgett</u> decision demonstrates that the severance provisions of Section 702.01, <u>Fla. Stat.</u>, are in conformity with pre-existing common law principles. Furthermore, although decided long before the 1987 Amendment to Section 702.01, <u>Fla. Stat.</u>, the <u>Padgett</u> analysis has been adopted in the instant case in the trial court's Order of Severance, thereby enabling severance to be granted, defendants' legal claims to be tried by jury, and the

legislative intent to be served.

However, assuming that the statute was properly subject to review in this cause, it should have been held constitutional. It is fundamental that, in determining the constitutionality of legislation, courts must give it a construction that upholds it rather than invalidates it, if there is any reasonable basis for doing so. Miami Dolphins, Ltd. v. Metropolitan Dade County, 394 So.2d 981 (Fla. 1981). In appealing this case to the First District Court of Appeals, Defendants asserted that the court's order granting Plaintiff's Motion to Sever violated Article V, Section 2(a) of the Florida Constitution. The First District apparently agreed with defendant's arguments, holding that "Section 702.01 is procedural in nature... " This conclusion is inconsistent with the prior decisions of this Court construing Article V, Section 2(a).

In <u>School Board of Broward County v. Surette, Inc</u>., 281 So.2d 481, 485 (Fla. 1973), this Court stated that the issue of severance is "truly a procedural matter." However, in <u>School Board of</u> <u>Broward County v. Price</u>, 362 So.2d 1337, 1339 (Fla. 1978), this Honorable Court held constitutional a statute "substantially identical" to the statute found unconstitutional in <u>Surette</u>. Thus, the opinion concludes that:

> [I]n view of today's decision the <u>Surette</u> holding is confined to the <u>Surette</u> case and is no longer controlling law.

<u>Id</u>. at 1340.

In Markert v. Johnston, 367 So.2d 1003 this (Fla. 1979) Court

recognized both the difficulties of determining whether a particular statute is procedural or substantive in nature and the need to consider the context and content of the statute at issue in making this determination.

The specific question crystallized by the multiple briefs in these cases is whether the joinder of a motor vehicle liability insurer is a "procedural" aspect of trial reserved to the rule making authority of the Supreme Court by Article V, Section 2(a) of the Florida Constitution, in which case the statute has impermissibly encroached on a prerogative of the judiciary or a "substantive" right which the Legislature can freely grant to or withhold from this class of litigants. The The distinction between those two concepts is, as we know, neither simple nor certain. То understand what the statute endeavors to accomplish, it is necessary to recount the course of joinder prohibitions in Florida's jurisprudence.

<u>Id</u>. at 1004. Although <u>Markert</u> held that Section 727.7262, Florida Statutes, relating to non-joinder of insurance companies in suits against their insureds was unconstitutional, Section 727.7262 was subsequently amended by the legislature and found constitutional by the Supreme Court in <u>VanBibber v. Hartford Accident and</u> <u>Indemnity Insurance Company</u>, 439 So.2d 880 (Fla. 1983).

In evaluating the constitutionality of the amended statute, this Court looked to the content of the challenged statute, reasoning that

> While this Court must determine public policy in the absence of a Legislative pronouncement, such a policy decision must yield to a valid, contrary Legislative pronouncement. . . . Finding that the Statute is substantive and that it operates in an area of legitimate Legislative concern precludes our finding it unconstitutional. If a Statute can be

construed to be constitutional it should be. Falco v. State, 407 So.2d 203 (Fla. 1981). We hold that Section 027.7262, Florida Statutes (Supp. 1982) is constitutional.

<u>Id</u>. at 883.

In accordance with the decision and analysis of this Court in VanBibber, the First District should have determined whether or not substantive only after Section 702.01, was procedural or considering the Legislature's stated intent to provide greater protection to commercial mortgage lenders. The House of Representatives Committee on Commerce Final Staff Analysis clearly expresses the purpose of the bill amending Section 702.01, to provide "greater legal protection for ... mortgage loans granted within this State upon passage of this Bill." (R.114) The greater legal protection afforded mortgagees by the Statute creates a substantive right to foreclose on a defaulted mortgage undelayed by legal counterclaims. In light of the foregoing, the Court should conclude that Section 702.01 is substantive in nature and therefore does not violate Article V, Section 2(a) of the Florida Constitution. However, even if this Court holds that such is not the case, plaintiff believes it should be adopted as a rule of this Court in accordance with the reasoning expressed in Carter v. Sparkman, 335 So.2d 802 (Fla. 1976).

II. THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEALS ERRED IN REVERSING THE TRIAL COURT'S ORDER STRIKING AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSES AND GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT IN THE FORECLOSURE ACTION

The First District Court of Appeals has found that the decision of the trial court did not "[allow defendants] the opportunity to present their defenses to the foreclosure." However, the idea that defendants' affirmative defenses could preclude foreclosure is completely at odds with the nature of the defenses pled and the relief requested therein. The first affirmative defense pled in each of the cases consolidated below contains the following request for relief:

As a direct and proximate result of the wrongful acts of HAVEN FEDERAL SAVINGS & LOAN ASSOCIATION, LARRY F. KIRIAN and SHARON E. KIRIAN have been caused to sustain damages equal to those claimed by HAVEN FEDERAL SAVINGS & LOAN ASSOCIATION and are entitled to recoupment of same, rescission of all documents executed in the course of the transaction, and such other relief as the Court may deem just and appropriate under these circumstances.

(R-57-67). In the second affirmative defense pled, defendants

state:

As a direct proximate result of the wrongful actions of HAVEN FEDERAL SAVINGS & LOAN ASSOCIATION, LARRY F. KIRIAN and SHARON E. KIRIAN have been caused to sustain injuries in the form of the down payment and mortgage payments related to the real property in an amount equal to those damages sought by HAVEN FEDERAL SAVINGS & LOAN ASSOCIATION and they are entitled to recoupment of the same, together with rescission of all documents involved in the transaction and such other relief as the Court deems appropriate and just under the circumstances.

(R-57-67). The relief requested is cumulative, not in the alternative. Defendants have stated unequivocally that they want the contracts involved rescinded and their money back. This was



admitted by counsel for the defendants early in the proceeding at hearing before Judge Wilkes in Motion for Rehearing of the trial court's order granting motion to sever; wherein the court inquired as follows:

THE COURT: Well, how are you hurt by this if I allow you to raise all of those defenses? As I remember, your counterclaim you're basically looking for money, you're not asking to keep the property, are you?

[DEFENDANTS' COUNSEL]<sup>1</sup>: No, Your Honor, but what we are asking in our affirmative defenses, or rather what our affirmative defenses assert is that the mortgage was procured by fraud and therefore we are seeking as an affirmative defense that the documents be rescinded.

THE COURT: Al right. So you want the contract rescinded, right, which is the mortgage and the note?

[DEFENDANTS COUNSEL]: That's a defense to the mortgage and note.

(A-6). Subsequently, however, perhaps realizing that to contend otherwise would invalidate their primary argument against the striking of their affirmative defenses, defendants began to argue that these defenses would allow them to keep the property in question. (See, Appellants Brief before the First District Court of Appeals at p. 18-19). This is clearly contrary to their own demands for relief and prior statements in this cause.

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