IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

HAVEN FEDERAL SAVINGS & LOAN ASSOCIATION,

Plaintiff, Appellant,

CASE NO. 76,082

v.

DCA-1 89-1538

LARRY F. KIRIAN, et al.,

Defendants, Appellees.

VIII

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEES

Alan K. Smith of the firm STROHAUER & SMITH, P.A. 918 Drew Street, Suite A Clearwater, Florida 34615 Tel. No. (813) 442-6116 Florida Bar No. 801488

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Haven contends that the First District Court of Appeal erred by 1) determining that the trial court committed reversible error when it found that it was required by Florida Statute \$702.01 to sever the counterclaims; and, 2) determining that reversible error had been committed by striking the affirmative defenses and granting summary judgment without permitting the affirmative defenses to be presented. Each of these issues is separate and distinct.

In passing on the validity of §702.01, the First District Court of Appeal correctly decided a typical, direct challenge to statutory constitutionality that had been presented to the trial court and was properly framed for disposition by the appellate court. No other basis for disposition existed. Rule 1.270(b) was never relied on by Haven, never placed into issue as a ground for severance, never litigated, and never cited as a basis for decision by the trial court. There was no non-constitutional basis for a decision, as was properly pointed out by Kirian and recognized by the First District Court of Appeal.

The language of Section 702.01 is clear, unambiguous and clearly procedural. The appellate court correctly determined that this Court has consistently held matters of joinder and severance to be procedural.

In any event, the validity of Section 702.01 cannot be sustained as it constitutes a deprivation of constitutional

guarantees as to the right to trial by jury. This issue was properly presented to the First District Court of Appeal, but it was found to be unnecessary to the result. It offers secondary support, however, for the decision at issue.

Haven has improperly invoked the jurisdiction of this Court to review the reversal of the trial court's order striking affirmative defenses and granting summary judgment in the foreclosure action. This issue is separate and distinct from the validity of \$702.01, and no basis for jurisdiction is established in Haven's Initial Brief.

In any event, Haven has offered no cogent argument that demonstrates an erroneous decision on the part of the First District Court of Appeal with respect to the second issue. The appellate court merely followed well-established precedent demonstrating that a summary judgment cannot be granted where the defendant asserts legally sufficient affirmative defenses that have not been disproven by the evidence.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS AND COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS BELOW

Appellant, HAVEN FEDERAL SAVINGS & LOAN ASSOCIATION ("HAVEN"), has filed a recitation of the facts and course of proceedings below that contains critical omissions. Appellees, hereinafter referred to simply as "KIRIAN", will only address those additional matters, which were undisputed below and are evidenced in the Opinion rendered by the First District Court of Appeal.

As noted by the First District:

[Kirian] filed responsive pleadings in each case: affirmative defenses seeking recoupment rescission based on fraud and misrepresentation; a counterclaim seeking damages against Haven for fraud and misrepresentation; and a demand for jury The facts relied upon to trial on these issues. support the affirmative defenses and counterclaim filed in each action were identical. asserted that Haven had entered into a conspiratorial arrangement with the owners and developers to defraud potential purchasers and that Haven, having actual knowledge of the project's imminent financial ruin, agreed not to furnish [Kirian] with the documents required by Section 718.503(2) and (3), Florida Statutes, and agreed to assist in painting a rosy investment picture, concealing its own financial interest in the project, and profinancing for prospective purchasers. (Emphasis added)

Haven never raised the issue below, as it does now at Page 14 of its Initial Brief, that "[t]he relief requested is cumulative, not in the alternative." Indeed, it inconsistently acknowledges at Page 2 of the same instrument that "Defendants' two affirmative defenses sought recoupment or, alternatively, rescission."

Similarly, Haven omits to note that its motion to sever the counterclaims for separate trial cited as its only basis amended

Section 702.01, which provides:

All mortgages shall be foreclosed in equity. In a mortgage foreclosure action, the court shall sever for separate trial all counterclaims against the foreclosing mortgagee. The foreclosure claim shall, if tried, be tried to the Court without a jury.

As pointed out by the First District, "Haven did not cite as a basis for the motion Florida Rule of Procedure 1.270(b), and subsequently argued that the rule was inapplicable, given the existence of the statutory provision." See also, R: 86-87.

Ultimately, the First District concluded that "Judge Wilkes granted the Motion to Sever, stating that 'severance of a mortgagee's foreclosure action and all counterclaims thereto is mandatory under the provisions of Florida Statutes Section 702.01' and that the ruling in the foreclosure action 'shall not be used in any way hearing of the merits of Defendants' preclude a full See also, R: 88-89. Florida Rule of Procedure counterclaim.'" 1.270(b) was never addressed nor relied upon by the trial court. The original arguments made to the trial court by the parties is summarized in the opinion rendered by the First District, as is the argument subsequently submitted in the rehearing proceedings.

After the rehearing and Petition for Certiorari were denied, Haven filed its Motion for Summary Judgment. As found by the First District, Haven specifically "acknowledged at the hearing that it had not rebutted the affirmative defenses raised in the responsive pleadings and that its prior motion to sever had made no reference to the affirmative defenses." Without prior notice, it

argued that the order severing the counterclaims would be thwarted if the affirmative defenses were permitted to be litigated and orally requested that the trial court strike the affirmative defenses. Ultimately, Judge Lewis struck the affirmative defenses and granted summary judgment in the consolidated cases.

On appeal, Kirian continued to maintain the position that Florida Statutes \$702.01 was also invalid facially or as applied owing to a resulting denial of the right to trial by jury as guaranteed by the federal and state constitutions. (Kirian Br. at 11-13; Kirian Reply Br. at 10-12) The First District was not required to and did not make a determination as to this issue.

Haven filed a timely Notice of Appeal citing only Rule 9.030(a)(l)(A)(ii) of the Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure and Article V, Section 3(b)(3) of the Florida Constitution as jurisdictional bases. No further authority was recited, as is acknowledged by Haven at Page 4 of its Initial Brief.

ARGUMENT

The First District Court of Appeal reversed two separate and distinct determinations made by the trial court on independent grounds. First, it determined that the trial court reversibly erred when it found that it was required by Florida Statute \$702.01 to sever the counterclaims. Second, it was determined that reversible error had been committed by striking the affirmative defenses and granting summary judgment without permitting the affirmative defenses to be presented. The validity of a Florida Statute was an issue pertinent to the former, but no such issue was present with respect to the latter. Haven addressed each of these questions in turn in its Initial Brief, and the same procedure will be followed herein.

I. THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL CORRECTLY REVERSED THE TRIAL COURT'S ORDER SEVERING THE COUNTERCLAIMS FROM THE FORECLOSURE ACTION.

Haven has argued that the First District both unnecessarily reached and erroneously determined the issue pertaining to the validity of Florida Statute §702.01. Both of these questions were adversely resolved against Haven below and will be addressed in sequence.

A. Severance of the Counterclaims Could Not Have Been Sustained Without Consideration of the Constitutional Issue.

Haven asserts that it is improper for a court to pass upon the validity of a statute if the case can be decided on other grounds. While the principle is correct, it has no application in the case at bar. Although Haven refers to "common law principles applicable to severance" as providing the alternative, nonconstitutional basis for decision, Florida Rule of Civil Procedure 1.270(b) is the more appropriate reference. The fallacy of Haven's argument is patent.

Haven's motion for severance set forth only one ground. The mandatory language of Section 702.01 was the exclusive basis. Haven contended that severance was a matter of right, not one of discretion. Rule 1.270(b) was never relied on by Haven, never placed into issue as a ground for severance, never litigated, and never cited as a basis for decision by the trial court.

In the Reply Brief filed with the First District at Page 7, Kirian properly objected to any consideration of whether Rule 1.270(b) as a proper alternative basis for severance. The issue had not been raised in the trial court and could not be raised for the first time on appeal. Rule 1.100(b) (all motions "shall state with particularity the grounds therefore"); Cf., Epperson v. Dixie Insurance Co., 461 So.2d 172, 175-6 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984). Similarly, this Court should not consider whether Rule 1.270(b) might have provided an alternative basis for decision when the trial court, in fact, never weighed the issue.

Under Rule 1.270(b), the matter of separation of the issues to be tried rests in the discretion of the trial judge. Vander Car v. Pitts, 166 So.2d 837, 839 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1964). "Nevertheless, a single trial generally tends to lessen the delay, expense and inconvenience to all concerned, and the courts have emphasized the separate trials should not be ordered unless such disposition is clearly necessary, and then only in the furtherance of justice."

Id. "It is only in exceptional circumstances that a trial court

should exercise its discretion to bifurcate the case." Glazer v. Glazer, 394 So.2d 140, 141 (Fla. 4th DCA 1981) (Emphasis original); Weasel v. Weasel, 419 So.2d 698 (Fla. 4th DCA 1982). Haven neither pleaded nor made any showing which respect to prejudice or the propriety of severance in this cause under Rule 1.270(b). It may not now assert, as it could not assert before the First District Court of Appeal, that it is a viable alternative basis for decision.

Assuming arguendo that an alternative, non-constitutional basis for decision existed in this cause, Haven would fair no better. The principal contentions of the parties and the ruling of the trial court were all predicated on Section 702.01. Its constitutionality was squarely at issue below. Under the circumstances, it was appropriate for the First District to resolve the constitutional issues on appeal. Fleeman v. Case, 342 So.2d 814, 818 (Fla. 1977). Moreover, the question presented was one of great public importance requiring judicial construction. See, e.g., Green v. State, 166 So.2d 585 (Fla. 1964). Haven's suggestion that the constitutional issue could have been avoided should not be heeded.

At Page 10 of its Initial Brief, Haven asserts that "a factual situation very similar to the instant case" was considered in Padgett v. First Federal S & L Ass'n., 378 So.2d 58 (Fla. 1st DCA 1979). That case is cited by Haven to support is argument, bu thte contention is somewhat perplexing.

In <u>Padgett</u>, the mortgagor's attorney withdrew some two months prior to a scheduled trial date. The day before trial was to occur, replacement counsel filed a notice of appearance and a motion for continuance. On the day of trial, the motion was denied. The

mortgagor produced no evidence to support its complaint and the complaint was dismissed on motion. A foreclosure judgment was entered on the counterclaim. No motion for severance was made. No severance was granted. The facts simply bear no resemblance to those of the case at bar.

The <u>Padgett</u> decision does not address Rule 1.270(b) and it does not discuss "common law principles" relating to severance. The quotations set forth at Page 10 of Haven's Initial Brief, have no meaning within the context of the argument being made. Apparently, they are intended to suggest that "there would be no error in a non-jury trial of the foreclosure action preceding trial" of any fraud or misrepresentation counterclaim issues. If that is the case, then Haven has sorely misperceived the thrust of the <u>Padgett</u> decision for that is not the holding.

Trial by jury and the effect that it has on the sequence of claim resolution was at issue in the <u>Padgett</u> case. It, however, certainly does not stand for the proposition that "severance is a discretionary matter" without limits. It does not constitute an unrestricted license to sever fraud counterclaims from foreclosure actions. While <u>Padgett</u> may relate to the arguments made below with reference to the right to trial by jury (Kirian Reply Brief at 8-12), it is impertinent to the issue under discussion.

Moreover, the <u>Padgett</u> case is otherwise factually distinguishable from the case at bar. In <u>Padgett</u>, the alleged misrepresentations involved the character of the building contractor selected by the mortgagor to build the planned improvements. Selection and employment of the contractor was a transaction

separate and distinct from the construction mortgage loan itself. Herein, it was alleged that Haven, not merely one of its employees, had a financial interest in the condominium project that it failed to disclose. Moreover, it had specific knowledge of facts that materially affected the value of the mortgaged property that it also failed to disclose. The fraud goes to the heart of the mortgage transaction. Haven was alleged to have violated duties owed to the mortgagors with respect to consummation of the mortgage loan sought to be foreclosed. See, e.g., Barnett Bank of West Florida v. Hooper, 498 So.2d 923 (Fla. 1987); Johnson v. Davis, 487 So.2d 625 (Fla. 1985).

In short, Haven has offered no argument of any substance in support of its contention that consideration of the constitutional issue should have been avoided. A typical, direct challenge to statutory constitutionality was presented to the First District Court of Appeal. The issues had been properly framed before and decided by the trial court. Resolution of the issues on appeal was both proper and necessary. 1

-10-

lt should be noted that Kirian also argued before both the trial court and the First District that Florida Statute 702.01, both facially and as applied, operated unconstitutionally to deprive him of his right to trial by jury on the legal issues presented by the counterclaims. It was unnecessary for the First District Court of Appeal to reach a decision on these issues, although adequate discussion is contained in the briefs filed below and is summarized infra.

B. The First District Court of Appeal Correctly Determined Florida Statute Section 702.01 To Be Invalid.

At Page 13 of its Initial Brief, Haven asserts that "the First District should have determined whether or not Section 702.01. procedural or substantive only after considering Legislature's stated intent to provide greater protection to commercial mortgage landers." In reaching that conclusion, Haven has misconstrued the decision rendered in Van Bibber v. Hartford Accident and Indemnity Insurance Co., 439 So.2d 880 (Fla. 1983). An appropriate analysis requires initial determination of the procedural or substantive character of the statute. Further inquiry into whether the statute "operates in an area of legitimate Legislative concern" is required only if the statute is determined to be substantive in nature. Id. at 883.

Article V, \$2(a) of the Florida Constitution confers exclusive authority upon the Supreme Court to "adopt rules for the practice and procedure in all courts." The Legislature "has no constitutional authority to enact any law relating to practice and In re the Clarification of Florida Rules of Practice procedure." and Procedure, 281 So.2d 204 (Fla. 1973). See also, State v. Smith and Figgers, 260 So.2d 489 (Fla. 1972). Where rules and construing opinions have been promulgated by the Supreme Court relating to the practice and procedure of all courts and a statutory provision provides a contrary practice or procedure, the statute must fall. School Board of Broward County v. Surette, 281 So.2d 481 1973); Markert v. Johnston, 367 So.2d 1003 (Fla. 1979). If a statute is procedural, the Legislature has exceeded the authority conferred on it and the intent of the Legislature is irrelevant.

Haven suggests that a "public policy pronouncement" by the Legislature is determinative of the substantive character of a statute. The Florida Supreme Court summarily rejected a similar contention in Markert v. Johnston, supra at 1005, fn. 8:

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